# A service-user digital intervention to collect realtime safety information on acute, adult mental health wards: the WardSonar mixed-methods study

John Baker, 1\* Sarah Kendal, 1 Chris Bojke, 2 Gemma Louch,<sup>3</sup> Daisy Halligan,<sup>1</sup> Saba Shafiq,<sup>1</sup> Charlotte Sturley,<sup>4</sup> Lauren Walker,<sup>3</sup> Mark Brown,<sup>4</sup> Kathryn Berzins,<sup>1</sup> Lyn Brierley-Jones,<sup>1</sup> Jane K O'Hara,<sup>1</sup> Kirstin Blackwell,<sup>5</sup> Gemma Wormald,<sup>5</sup> Krysia Canvin<sup>1</sup> and Charles Vincent<sup>6,7,8</sup>

**Disclaimer:** This report contains transcripts of interviews conducted in the course of the research, or similar, and contains language which may offend some readers.

Published May 2024 DOI: 10.3310/UDBQ8402

## Plain language summary

A service-user digital intervention to collect real-time safety information on acute, adult mental health wards: the WardSonar mixed-methods study

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 14

DOI: 10.3310/UDBQ8402

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>School of Healthcare, Baines Wing, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Leeds Institute of Health Sciences, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Yorkshire Quality and Safety Research Group, Bradford Institute for Health Research, Bradford, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Leeds Institute for Data Analytics, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Health Sciences, University of York, York, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Social Spider CIC, The Mill (Community Centre), London, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Thrive by Design, Leeds, UK

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>University of Oxford Medical Sciences Division, Oxford, UK

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author J.Baker@leeds.ac.uk

# Plain language summary

ental health wards can feel unsafe. We know that patients and staff have different ideas about what makes a hospital ward safe or unsafe. Patients are often the first to know when the atmosphere on a ward becomes tense but, often, no one asks them for input or feedback at the time. We worked with service users and staff to develop new technology to make it easy for patients to tell staff about changes in the ward atmosphere. We put everyone's ideas together and some technical developers then built a digital safety tool to use on a tablet computer. Patients put in anonymous information about the ward atmosphere and staff can read it straight away. We tested it on six adult acute mental health wards for 10 weeks. We asked patients and staff what they thought about the tool and we looked at how it was being used. Patients and staff liked the look of the tool on the tablet computer. Some staff said they did not need it because they could tell how patients were feeling, but patients told us that staff did not talk with them much and did not always know when patients were feeling tense. Coronavirus disease 2019 made life difficult on the wards. Most ward managers said the tool could be helpful, but they had not had time to get used to it on the wards. Occasionally, the tablet computers were out of action. Many staff tried hard to use the tool. Most patient information was gathered when it was calm, perhaps because staff were not too busy to help them. We found that this tool could help staff know about tensions on the ward, but they need to get used to it and bring it into ward routines.

### **Health and Social Care Delivery Research**

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb™ (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

### Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

### **HSDR** programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

### This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR128070. The contractual start date was in January 2020. The draft manuscript began editorial review in February 2023 and was accepted for publication in August 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Baker et al. This work was produced by Baker et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).